No. 23-CV-413



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 10/23/2024 12:15 PM

MA SHUN BELL,

Appellant,

v.

WEINSTOCK, FRIEDMAN & FRIEDMAN, P.A., et al

Appellees.

On appeal from Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Radi Dennis (#473921) Counsel for *MA SHUN BELL* CONSUMER JUSTICE ESQ P.O. Box 27081 Washington DC 20038 Telephone: (202) 579-1243 rdennis@consumerjusticeesq.com

I. Jurisdiction

This appeal is from a final order or judgment that disposes of all parties' claims in case 2019 CA 008461 B

II. Questions Presented

- 1. Exact question decided in *Bell III*, whether a bare attorney-client relationship provides non-party privity for purposes of res judicata.
- 2. Whether attorneys and debt collectors are immune from the CPPA
- 3. Whether AFRA, UCC, UDCPA and abuse of process claims are plausibly pled
- 4. Whether the court abused its discretion in denying a Rule 56(d) motion and motion to extend time to respond in the final dismissal order after relying on evidence of Rule 12(b)(6) movant

III. Statement of the Case

On October 17, 2019 Ms. Bell sued Defendants asserting violations of the Consumer Protection and Procedures Act ("CPPA"), the Unjust Debt Collection Practices Amendment Act of 2022 fka the Debt Collection Law ("UDCPA"), the Fair Debt Collections Practices Act ("FDCPA") and abuse of process. The Law Firms removed to federal court. As the bulk of the claims involve local consumer statutes, Ms. Bell voluntarily dismissed the federal case and refiled in Superior Court on December 18, 2019 alleging claims under local law only. The court granted the Law Firms first Rule 12(b)(6) motion on April 6, 2020 ruling the claims barred by res judicata. Ms. Bell appealed and the Court reversed stating the court failed to engage in a privity analysis. The Law Firms filed a second Rule 12(b)(6) motion based on the exact same res judicata defense attaching "evidence" denied to Ms. Bell, a third Rule 12(b)(6) seeking dismissal for purported pleading deficiencies and "immunity" from the CPPA, a motion to strike Ms. Bell's class allegations and a notion for a blanket protective order seeking denial of all discovery to Ms. Bell until the Court resolves the three motions filed on a single day. Ms. Bell opposed third Rule 12(b)(6) and filed Rule 56(d) and extension of time motions in response to the converted Rule 12(b)(6)motion. The court dismissed Ms. Bell's claims and denied the Rule 56(d) and time extension motions in the same order. Second appeal.

IV. Statement of Facts

A. Facts of Case

In the first appeal Ms. Bell briefs about right, wrong and accountability. Specifically, how the rules are rigged against folks like her by design. This second appeal in the same procedural posture on the same exact question is another example. The system forms barriers to entry for those in poverty or marginalized enabling entities like the Law Firms to avoid consequences for illegal acts using fanciful applications of rules like res judicata attempting to bootstrap their real-time unlawful conduct to a client's default/consent judgment illegally obtained and brazen unfairness. The Law Firms are the lynchpin in creditors' illegal scheme of laundering un-owed debts into valid enforceable money judgments against vulnerable consumers like Ms. Bell to line their own pockets. Without the Law Firms verifying and filing these meritless claims against defenseless Black and Brown folks the creditor cannot garnish wages based on judgments received on meritless claims as the Law Firms did here. Defendants forced Ms. Bell to gift thousands in garnished wages to a multi-billion-dollar behemoth she could neither afford nor owed through their routine sworn verifications of meritless claims to this court as officers. [JA57, ¶49]. Greed being their North Star, the Law Firms as court officers filed numerous sworn verifications that the amounts sought are "a just and true statement of the amount owing by the defendant to plaintiff," despite the face of the documents filed clearly showing the statement false. The Law Firms collected the judgment from Ms. Bell through wage garnishment keeping Ms. Bell in a perpetual state of likely eviction for years from which she still has not recovered. [JA57, ¶48].

Ms. Bell is an African-American single mother of a daughter, special needs son and is guardian of her grandchild. Ms. Bell's son has significant

medical expenses in addition to requiring constant adult supervision. First Investors Servicing Corporation ("FISC") sued Ms. Bell in Small Claims for breach of contract in 2017 based on a Retail Installment Sales Contract ("RISC") after the vehicle was repossessed and allegedly sold. [JA51, ¶¶11, 17]. Weinstein, Friedman & Friedman, P.A. and Friedman & Framme & Thrush, P.A ("Law Firms" or "Defendants") at different stages filed and prosecuted the Small Claims suit. Id. Ms. Bell alleges no AFRA statutory notices were ever sent, no notifications to the DC Police, breach of peace, and there was no legal authority to repossess the vehicle. [JA50-51, ¶¶11-16]. Absent strict compliance with mandatory notice requirements and procedures, a deficiency balance may not lawfully be collected from any person following disposition of the repossessed vehicle. 16 DCMR § 340.5. [JA53, ¶30]. Ms. Bell further alleges the "Explanation of Calculation of Surplus or Deficiency" ("ECSD") letter filed by Defendants filed charges over \$100 in retaking fees (\$850) and over \$3 per day for storage (\$10) in violation of AFRA. [JA51, ¶¶18, 24-25]. Ms. Bell allege Defendants charged excessive attorney fees and other costs. [JA51, ¶19-20].

After FISC served Ms. Bell appeared at her only hearing *pro se*. The Law Firms again communicated to Ms. Bell and the court the deficiency amount is owed. Unbeknownst to Ms. Bell it was not. In the mediation, the

Law Firms drafted the Settlement Agreement between FISC and Ms. Bell and Ms. Bell signed at her only hearing before the 2018 judgment. [JA195]. The Law Firms then told Ms. Bell she could leave and did not need to appear before the court again. On the Law Firms' instruction, Ms. Bell left and never appeared before the court again. When Ms. Bell could not keep up with the payments Defendants applied for and received a default judgment on the settlement agreement with FISC. [JA192-94]. The 2018 judgment obtained is entered without an answer filed. Defendants are not parties thereto nor to RISC, settlement agreement or lawsuit. [JA194-95].

Breach of the 2017 settlement is the sole issue resolved in the Small Claims suit. None of the consumer protection claims against FISC nor the Law Firms (nonparties) are resolved or litigated in FISC's suit against Ms. Bell. Ms. Bell moved to vacate FISC's default judgment for lack of notice and was denied. Ms. Bell moved for judicial review of the FISC small claims order and was denied. Ms. Bell requested to appeal and was denied. Yet Defendants are provided multiple opportunities to litigate the exact same issue under the exact same standard twice forcing Ms. Bell to appeal twice in this case and twice in her other case. Defendants are given a level of process Ms. Bell was never provided before being forced to gift \$8,000 to a billion-dollar corporation on which Defendants allege to have collected

a 30 percent commission. That Defendants accuse Ms. Bell of attempting to "extort a settlement" by requiring discovery to oppose their sandbag motions is obliviousness on steroids. Rule 56(d) OPP. at 2. Ms. Bell fully paid the judgment through Defendants garnishment of her wages.

Ms. Bell alleges Defendants pursued a deficiency of \$8,271.41. [JA51, [17].]. Billing and collecting barred deficiency amounts violate AFRA hence the ECSD notice as well as charging, billing and collecting excess storage and retaking fees enforced through both the CPPA and UDCPA. The court erroneously states Ms. Bell "concedes" Defendants "had no role" in collection of the deficiency prior to representing FISC in Court beginning in March 2017." [JA27]. The SAC does not so concede and the court cites no allegation supporting the conclusion. Id. Also, whether done before or during the 2017 suit is of no moment as billing and collecting the deficiency, storage or retaking fees is barred under AFRA. Ms. Bell alleges based on the violations the deficiency billed, charged and collected by Defendants is barred. [JA33, ¶30; JA54, ¶¶38-40]. Ms. Bell alleges that is the standard policy and practice of the Law Firms to launder barred deficiency debts to enforceable judgments using the court as their washing machine. [JA62, ¶65]. Ms. Bell alleges Defendants filed a court statement

averring "being first duly sworn on oath says the foregoing is a just and true statement of..amount owing by the defendant to plaintiff." [JA51, ¶¶17, 39].

Ms. Bell alleges many complaints filed and verified by Defendants do not contain the AFRA repossession notices. [JA53, ¶¶ 34]. Ms. Bell alleges Defendants routinely obtain judgments on and collects barred amounts by using false and misleading affidavits filed in court as court officers. [JA54, ¶ 39]. Ms. Bell alleges actual and constructive knowledge amounts are not owed. [JA55, ¶ 42]. Ms. Bell alleges Defendants communicated to her while she was represented by counsel. [JA52, ¶27]. Ms. Bell alleges that Defendants misrepresent consumers are obligated to pay deficiencies and fails to inform them they are not obligated to pay. [JA55, ¶ 43]. Ms. Bell alleges Defendants do the alleged acts of seeking, billing, collecting and converting the meritless claims to judgments against vulnerable *pro se* and no-show consumers knowingly and intentionally. [JA72, ¶111]. Ms. Bell pleads AFRA, CPPA, UDCPA, UCC, and abuse of process claims.

Despite no right of enforcement for nonparties in the 2017 agreement nor language enabling nonparties to tack on unrelated consumer protection violations under said agreement, the Law Firms seek to do so here. There is no release of claims in the agreement drafted by the Law Firms. [JA195]. The Law Firms are not identified as parties in the settlement/RISC/Small

Claims suit nor the 2018 judgment and have no final judgment to base res judicata. [JA168,180]. The "Assignment of Contract" identifies First Inv. Financial Services, Inc. as the "Assignee" not FISC. [JA179]. No claims or responsive pleading against the Law Firms was ever filed in FISC's suit. As nonparties to FISC's Small Claims suit it is undisputed Ms. Bell could not bring claims against the firms in that suit. In *Bell III* the Court held:

[W]e do note that (1) appellee failed to present any argument or reasoning as to why they may claim the "benefits" of any terms of the settlement agreement or the RISC given that they are not parties, successors in interest, or assignees to either and (2) even if appellee was protected by the settlement agreement, Ms. Bell cannot be deemed to have waived causes of action through a settlement agreement under AFRA, CPPA, and DCL to the extent that the causes of action do not nullify the small claims judgment. See Bell I, 256 A.3d at 256 n.12.

Bell v. Weinstock, Friedman & Friedman, et al, 285 A.3d 505, n.3 (D.C.

2022) ("*Bell III*"). Defendants continue their failure to present argument or reasoning as to why they may "claim benefits of any terms of the settlement or the RISC given that they are not parties, successors in interest/assignees to either." <u>Id</u>. Defendants instead falsely argue to be "contractually assigned [FISC's] legal interest to 30% of any …recovery." **RJ** Mot. at 9. They are not. Defendants rely on improper affidavits of J. Glick and J. Poss and a "Collection Agreement" ("CA") to claim privity as an "agent." The same Glick falsely averred amounts owed in FISC's 2017 suit. [JA168].

The CA contains the following terms denied to Ms. Bell in connection

with the converted Rule 12(b)(6) summary judgment motion granted below:

3.1 PROPRIETARY RIGHTS. All Accounts placed by FISC with Contractor are, and shall remain, the exclusive property of the FISC Entities. FISC shall place Accounts with Contractor in its sole discretion and are placed with Contractor only for the purpose of collection in accordance herewith. <u>Contractor shall acquire no right, title or interest in</u> <u>any Accounts placed with Contractor</u>.

2.1 INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. Except as implied by the attorney/client relationship, this Agreement does not make or constitute Contractor as the agent of FISC, any of its Affiliates or any Client for any purpose whatsoever,...Contractor shall, in all respects, be and remain an independent contractor,...

3.4 RECALL.

(a) Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary or any Applicable Law, FISC <u>shall have the absolute right to recall any Account</u> <u>placed with Contractor at any time, for any reason, in its sole discretion,</u> <u>with or without cause</u>. Each Account so recalled shall be a "Recalled Account." Any Account placed with Contractor in respect of which no payment has been received by either Contractor or a FISC Entity for the period specified on Schedule A shall be (i) automatically closed, (ii) deemed a Recalled Account as of the last day of the Authorized Collection Period and (iii) promptly returned by Contractor to FISC.

(b) FISC, in its sole discretion, may place Recalled Account with any other Person. Contractor shall not be entitled to any Commission or other compensation in respect of any payment received by FISC, Contractor or any other Person in respect of a Recalled Account on or after the date that such Account constitutes a Recalled Account.

(c) If a Recalled Account is in litigation at the time that it is recalled (or deemed recalled), Contractor shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to FISC, at the time of recall, a substitution of attorney signed in blank, for such action.

Schedule A: AUTHORIZED COLLECTION PERIOD- 6 MONTHS

[JA102]. The CA denied to Ms. Bell prior to Defendants motion while also relying on cherry-picked terms therein, prove Defendants have no right to the account or 2018 settlement judgment to which they claim a mutuality of intertest/agency/privity. [JA87]. The party putting this agreement in issue is Defendants through their second converted 12(b)(6) motion. RJ Mot. at 6. Defendants argue the interest "does not exist [with] every attorney-client" but exists here based on "their contingency fee agreement and the nature of FISC's case," "FISC contractually assigned its legal interest to 30% of any financial recovery," (FISC most certainly does not), its claim is special and "will not exist in every circumstance" involving a contingency fee agreement because here FISC only sought a monetary judgment 30 percent of which belongs to the Law Firms - it does not. Ninety-nine percent of attorney contingency fee agreements involve monetary relief for the client out of which the attorney is paid. RJ Mot. 8-10. The circumstance is not distinct as it exists in every attorney-client contingency arrangement thus the court vastly expands preclusion law beyond settled precedent contrary to *Bell III*. The CA also disclaims such interest and commission is lost upon "Recall."

The plain words – "shall remain, the exclusive property of the FISC" and "Contractor shall acquire no right, title or interest in any Accounts placed" proves no privity and deceptive litigation conduct causing Ms.

Bell's fourth appeal to this Court without Defendants producing one piece of discovery. [J196]. Defendants held the CA in their possession yet still made the res judicata argument while actively preventing discovery of the CA ambushing or cheating regular process by filing a concurrent protective order motion. [JA13]. In the affidavit, Glick again gives false testimony to court stating "Sections 3.3, 3.4, 3.6, 3.8 and 4.3 do not apply to Ms. Bell's account." [JA88]. Glick clearly did not want Ms. Bell to see sections 3.1, 3.4, 3.8, 4.4, 8.1, 10.1 or Schedule A showing that Defendants only have the account for "6 months" each of which are dispositive of Defendants res judicata claim. Further, Defendants were not owed "commission" during the 2017 suit nor the day of the 2018 judgment because Defendants did not collect any amounts or commissions had been paid weekly by FISC. Defendants knew they were independent contractors not agents of FISC and had no rights or interest in FISC's 2018 settlement judgment but forced Ms. Bell to appeal a wholly frivolous res judicata argument.

B. Procedural Facts

Defendants have received more process here than Ms. Bell could ever hope to receive and was repeatedly denied in the FISC suit prosecuted by Defendants. The law Firms have now filed three Rule 12(b)(6) motions one converted to a summary judgment motion through reliance on affidavits

and the CA. The rules permit a single Rule 12(b)(6). Ms. Bell has now been before the Court four times in four years in <u>Bell v. First Investors</u> <u>Servicing Corp.</u>, 256 A.3d 246 (D.C. 2021)("Bell I"), <u>Bell v. First Investors</u> <u>Servicing Corp.</u>, No. 21-CV-0843 (Nov 9 2022)("Bell II"), the first appeal in this case <u>Bell v. Weinstock, Fried. & Fried., et al</u>, 285 A.3d 505 (D.C. 2022)("Bell III"). Now this second appeal. The Court reversed in 2022:

we hold that for purposes of res judicata, a decision regarding whether appellee was in privity with **FISC** requires analyzing the mutuality of their legal interests. The trial court did not engage in that analysis.

[JA166]. Thus, settling the res judicata issue in this procedural posture. On remand, Ms. Bell moved to amend her complaint alleging violation of the newly amended UDCPA. Defendants made no opposition to the amended provisions in opposition and the court granted the motion. [JA42]. As such, the SAC is the operative complaint and Defendants waive any retroactive application arguments never made in relation thereto untimely raised first in a reply. The SAC is now law of the case. The UDCPA no longer require willfulness and violations of the FDCPA violate UDCPA. [JA67-70]. After granting the motion amending, the court ordered:

ORDERED that Defendant shall have 21 days from the date of this Order to file evidence and argument related to the issue of res judicata as articulated herein and/or a motion to dismiss on any other grounds. [JA46]. Ms. Bell received no discovery from the Law Firms propounded on

February 10, 2020, but the court permits evidence supporting Defendants

res judicata argument and despite this Court's mandate merely requiring "analysis" not "further fact-finding" as erred by the court. [JA22-23]. There is no mandate to permit evidence or second and third 12(b)(6) motions when the rules only permit one which Ms. Bell already litigated, appealed and won reversal. Though the court's busy calendar may have caused the error, Defendants know the rules and the procedural posture of the matter and in bad faith proceeded despite. March 14, 2025, Defendants filed a motion to strike class allegations, a second Rule 12(b)(6) res judicata motion attaching "evidence" ("RJ Mot."), a third Rule 12(b)(6) ("3rd Mot.), and a motion for a protective order denying Ms. Bell all discovery until all three motions are resolved. [JA13]. Or, dispositively moving by ambush.

On March 28, 2023, Ms. Bell timely opposed the protective order and 3rd Motion, filed a Rule 56(d) motion in response to the RJ and strike motions including a declaration specifying discovery needed and a motion to extend time to oppose both. [JA13-14, JA90]. In her opposition to 3rd motion, Ms. Bell requests leave to amend SAC to remedy any deficiencies to enable a decision on the merits. OPP 3rd Mot. at 15. In the RJ motion Defendants attach the Glick declaration with Glick unilaterally deciding the CA terms relevant and includes said terms in his declaration and claims attorney client privilege as to the rest of the CA. [JA87]; RJ Mot. at 4, n.1.

Contrary to the court, Defendants converted their 12(b)(6) to a summary judgment motion by relying on affidavit "evidence." [JA39].

On April 4, 2023, the Law Firms filed replies to Ms. Bell's oppositions to protective order and 3rd motion. [JA14]. On April 11, 2023, the Law Firms opposed Ms. Bell's Rule 56(d) not Ms. Bell's motions for extension of time or requested leave to amend. Defendants defended their refusal to produce the agreement arguing "the agreement between FFT and FISC, says what it says." OPP to Rule 56(d). at 3. On the same day, Defendants untimely filed, without leave, a "supplement" to the RJ motion including the Poss declaration and the CA in an untimely bid to cure their bad faith litigation tactics. [JA14, 95-122]. On April 18, 2023, Ms. Bell replied reiterating her need to depose Glick and now Poss. On April 20, 2023, the court dismissed Ms. Bell's claims based on res judicata and the 3rd Motion. Ms. Bell was denied the opportunity to oppose the res judicata motion as the court denied her Rule 56(d) motion, leave to amend, and motion seeking an extension of time in the dismissal order. [JA20].

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