NO. 23-CV-413



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 11/22/2024 02:55 PM Filed 11/22/2024 02:55 PM

MA SHUN BELL,

Appellant,

v.

WEINSTOCK, FRIEDMAN & FRIEDMAN, P.A./ FRIEDMAN, FRAMME & THRUSH, P.A.,

Appellee.

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court Civil Division No. 2019 CA 008461 B (Hon. Yvonne Williams, Judge)

BRIEF OF APPELLEE FRIEDMAN, FRAMME & THRUSH, P.A., formerly known as WEINSTOCK, FRIEDMAN & FRIEDMAN, P.A.

WILSON, ELSER, MOSKOWITZ EDELMAN & DICKER, LLP

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Affirmance is warranted. The trial court properly determined that Bell failed to state a claim against the Law Firm for alleged violations of UCC, AFRA, CPPA or DCL because the Complaint concedes that the Law Firm had no role in the sale of her car, the financing of the car, its repossession, or collection of the deficiency prior to representing the Law Firm's client in court. The trial court properly determined that the UCC claim fails because the Law Firm was not a secured party, as defined in the statute, and therefore had no duty to provide Bell notice that her car was being repossessed. The trial court properly determined that the AFRA and CPPA claims fail because, as a matter of law, the Law Firm's professional act of filing a lawsuit on behalf of its client cannot violate the AFRA or CPPA. The trial court also properly determined that the DCL claim fails because Bell did not allege how the Law Firm violated the DCL, and instead merely recited what that DCL prohibits. Similarly, the trial court properly dismissed the abuse of process claim because the lawsuit filed by the Law Firm on behalf of its client was intended to achieve a generally lawful aim (*i.e.*, collecting money owed to FISC pursuant to contract) and there are no allegations that the Law Firm had an ulterior motive or sought to coerce Bell into taking some action other than paying the deficiency.

Finally, the trial court properly considered the terms of the representation agreement between the Law Firm and its client, pursuant to which FISC provided its legal interest to 30% of its financial recovery from Bell as compensation for the Law Firm's representation in seeking that recovery. Based on the mutuality of interest established in that agreement as applied to the debt collection action, the trial court properly applied the doctrine of res judicata and found that the UCC, CPPA and abuse of process claims against the Law Firm are barred.¹

ARGUMENT

I. Bell failed to state a viable claim for alleged violations of the D.C. Uniform Commercial Code because the Law Firm was not a "secured party" and did not owe Bell any duties under the UCC.

On appeal, Bell argues that Law Firm violated two provisions of the D.C. UCC. Appellant's Brief ("Br.") at 42. First, the Law Firm is alleged to have violated D.C. Code § 28:9-611, which requires a secured party to provide "reasonable authenticated notice of disposition" before disposing of collateral under § 9-610. Second, Bell alleges the Law Firm violated D.C. Code § 28:1-304 by not acting in good faith. As the trial court correctly noted, the UCC cause of action fails because: (a) Bell does not include any factual allegations that the Law Firm had any involvement in the repossession or sale of her vehicle; and (b) the UCC duties Bell alleges the Law Firm violated only apply to secured parties, as that term is defined

¹ The Law Firm rejects all of the arguments presented by Bell in the Appellant's Brief. It would be impracticable, if not impossible, to attempt to itemize, articulate and rebut each of the seemingly endless, irrelevant, and unsupported arguments presented by Bell in her 50-page brief. In any event it is not necessary to do so. This Appellee's Brief endeavors to demonstrate why, applying the applicable standard of review to the narrow issues presented on appeal, affirmance is warranted. Anticipating a baseless "waiver" argument presented in countless briefs in this litigation, the Law Firm does not concede any of Bell's arguments; and will address any issues not specifically addressed in this brief at the Court's request or at any oral argument.

in the statute. JA 27-28. There is no dispute that the Law Firm was not a "secured party."

A. Bell does not allege that the Law Firm had any involvement in the repossession or sale of her vehicle.

The trial court rightly noted that Bell does not allege that the Law Firm had any involvement in the repossession or sale of her vehicle. JA 28; JA50-51 ¶¶ 11-16. Rather, she simply alleges that in March 2017, the Law Firm (on behalf of Bell's creditor, FISC), filed suit in the District of Columbia to recover an \$8,000 deficiency. JA51 ¶ 17. Absent any factual allegations that the Law Firm was involved in the repossession or sale of her vehicle, Bell cannot claim that the Law Firm violated the UCC in the notice and sale of her vehicle. "Bare allegations of wrongdoing that are no more than conclusions are not entitled to an assumption of truth, and are insufficient to sustain a complaint." *Bereston v. UHS of Delaware, Inc.,* 180 A.3d 95, 99 (D.C. 2018).

B. The Law Firm is not a "secured party" as defined by the UCC.

Even if Bell had alleged the Law Firm was involved in the sale of her vehicle, the Law Firm does not owe Bell any duty under the UCC. Based on the plain language of the statute, § 9-611 only requires "a *secured party* that disposes of collateral under § 28:9-610" to provide authenticated notice of disposition. (emphasis added). The statute defines "secured party" as:

- (A)A person in whose favor a security interest is created or provided for under a security agreement, whether or not any obligation to be secured is outstanding;
- (B) A person that holds an agricultural lien;
- (C)A consignor;
- (D)A person to which accounts, chattel paper, payment intangibles, or promissory notes have been sold;
- (E) A trustee, indenture trustee, agent, collateral agent, or other representative in whose favor a security interest or agricultural lien is created or provided for; or
- (F) A person that holds a security interest arising under § 28:2-401, 2-505, 2-711(3), 2A-508(5), 4-210, or 5-118.

D.C. Code § 28:9-102(73). The Complaint contains no allegations that the Law Firm was a "secured party" as defined by the statute, and Bell does not even attempt to demonstrate otherwise in her opening brief. Nor does Bell allege that the Law Firm "disposed of the collateral." Accordingly, the Law Firm did not have a duty to provide Bell with authenticated notice of the disposition.

Bell alleges that the Law Firm violated § 1-304, which imposes a duty of good faith in the performance and enforcement of every contract or duty within the subtitle. Bell argues, without providing any explanation as to how, that the Law Firm violated its duty of good faith. It appears that Bell's allegations about the violation of the duty of good faith is enmeshed with her allegation that the Law Firm failed to provide authenticated notice under § 9-611. Br. at 42. In any event, comment 1 to §

1-304 states: "This section does not support an independent cause of action for failure to perform or enforce in good faith."

Finally, Bell's statement that UCC liability is not limited to "secured parties" but applies to "persons" is irrelevant. Br. at 42. Section 9-625, titled "Remedies for a secure party's failure to comply with this article" establishes the remedies for a secured party's noncompliance with the UCC; it does not establish additional obligations or duties. Rather, as explained by comment 2 to § 9-625, the section provides "the basic remedies afforded to those aggrieved by a secured party's failure to comply with this Article." As such, § 9-625's use of the word "persons" has no impact on the preceding sections, which only establish duties upon "secured parties".

Because Bell does not allege that the Law Firm is a secured party and cannot identify a single duty under the UCC that the Law Firm has violated, the trial court's dismissal of Bell's UCC claim should be affirmed.²

II. Bell failed to state a viable claim for alleged violations of the Consumer Protection Procedures Act because the CPPA does not apply to professional services provided by attorneys, and debt collection is not a trade practice.

² At the trial court, Bell alleged additional violations of the UCC, such as failure to sell her repossessed vehicle in a commercially reasonable manner. Because Bell makes no mention of these provision in her opening brief, and because the Complaint contains no allegations that the Law Firm was involved in the sale, these allegations are not at issue in this appeal (and they are otherwise unsupported).

Bell's CPPA claim fails for two independent reasons. First, attorneys are exempt from regulation under the CPPA under D.C. Code § 28-3903(c)(2)(C). Because Bell's claims against the Law Firm are based entirely on the Law Firm's actions in its capacity as counsel for Bell's creditor, her CPPA claim must fail. Moreover, the CPPA does not apply to debt collection, which is not a "trade practice" as defined by the statute.

A. The professional services exemption of the CPPA applies to the Law Firm.

Bell's claims against the Law Firm indisputably arise out of the professional services it performed for its client. By its terms, the CPPA is inapplicable to lawyers and legal services. The CPPA expressly excludes from its purview the "professional services of ... lawyers." D.C. Code § 28-3903(c)(2)(C); See Bergman v. District of Columbia, 986 A.2d 1208, 1227 (D.C. 2010) (noting attorneys are expressly exempted from regulation under the CPPA, and citing D.C. Code § 28-3903(c)(2)(C)); Banks v. District of Columbia Dep't of Consumer & Regulatory Affairs, 634 A.2d 433, 437 (D.C. 1993) (noting that the CPPA excludes from its purview the professional services of lawyers); Pietrangelo v. Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale & Dorr, LLP, 68 A.3d 697, 715 (D.C. 2013) (affirming dismissal of a CPPA claim against a law firm for allegedly filing an unfair or deceptive suit on a client's behalf because the CPPA "specifically excludes attorneys"). Bell's attempt to recast her allegations as distinct from legal services is unsupported. The specific

factual allegations in her Complaint against the Law Firm are in the context of the Law Firm's legal services for its client, FISC.

B. Debt collection is not a "trade practice" as defined by the CPPA.

Even if the Law Firm were not exempted from the CPPA by § 28-3903(c)(2)(C), Bell's claim would still fail because debt collection is not a "trade practice" as defined by the CPPA. *Baylor v. Mitchell Rubenstein & Assoc.*, 55 F.Supp.3d 43, 52-54 (D.D.C. 2014). Rather, the CPPA states that "trade practice" means any act which does or would create, alter, repair, furnish, make available, provide information about, or, directly or indirectly, solicit or offer for or effectuate, a sale, lease or transfer, of consumer goods or services." D.C. Code § 28-3901(a)(6).

In *Baylor*, the question was whether letters sent by a debt collection firm amounted to unfair trade practices in violation of the CPPA. *Baylor*, 55 F.Supp.3d at 48. The letters at issue "were sent by defendants in an attempt to collect debts allegedly owed to the creditor that hired defendants." *Id.* at 53-54. In dismissing plaintiff's CPPA claim, the court explained that because the defendant debt collector was "not offering to sell or provide plaintiff with any goods or services, including consumer credit" their efforts were not "trade practices" under the plain language of the CPPA. *Id.* at 54.

Bell argues that the Law Firm's filing of the small claims suit was a "trade practice" under the CPPA and that this court is not bound by *Baylor*. Br. at 38. While

Bell is correct that *Baylor*, a case decided by a federal court, is not binding, Bell does not make a coherent argument as to why the reasoning in *Baylor* is incorrect and cannot cite a single Court of Appeals decision to support its claim that the mere filing of a suit constitutes a "trade practice" under the CPPA.

III. Bell failed to state a viable claim for alleged violations of the Automobile Financing and Repossession Act because the Law Firm had no role in the repossession or sale of her vehicle.

As rightly noted by the trial court, the regulations made pursuant to the District of Columbia's Automobile Financing and Repossession Act ("AFRA") are only enforceable through a CPPA claim. D.C. Code § 28-3904(dd). Accordingly, if the Law Firm's actions as legal counsel for Bell's creditor are exempted from the CPPA, Bell cannot pursue her claims for the Law Firm's alleged AFRA violations via the CPPA. JA29.

Even if Bell could pursue a CPPA claim, she has not alleged facts to support a claim that the Law Firm violated AFRA. Bell alleges that the Law Firm violated AFRA in connection with the repossession and sale of her vehicle. JA63. Specifically, she alleges she did not receive the pre- and post-repossession notices required by AFRA. *See* 16 DCMR § 341. She then alleges that proper notice was not supplied by her creditor [FISC], precluding her deficiency. *See* 16 DCMR § 346 (stating "a deficiency does not arise unless the holder has complied with the . . . mandatory and discretionary notice requirements set forth in § 341").

16

Bell's AFRA claim against the Law Firm fails because she does not allege that the Law Firm had any involvement in the repossession or sale of her vehicle. JA50-51 ¶¶ 11-16. To the contrary, she vaguely and generically alleges that, upon information and belief, her car was repossessed and that she was not provided the required notices by her creditor [FISC]. *Id.* The Law Firm's only alleged involvement was filing suit on behalf of her creditor, the Law Firm's client FISC, for an alleged \$8,271.14 deficiency. *Id.* ¶ 17.

Even if Bell's allegations that her creditor did not comply with AFRA's notice requirements, and therefore no deficiency arose, had merit the Law Firm's filing suit based on FISC's claim that it was owed a deficiency is not a violation of AFRA. Nowhere does the text of AFRA make it unlawful to file suit based on a disputed deficiency. Because Bell has not alleged that the Law Firm had any contact or involvement with her regarding the repossession or sale of her car, she cannot maintain a claim against the Law Firm for violating AFRA.

IV. Bell's conclusory statements that the Law Firm violated the Debt Collection Law fail to state a claim.

The trial court properly dismissed Bell's D.C. Debt Collection Law ("DCL") cause of action because she failed to allege more than bald conclusions that the Law Firm violated the DCL. JA29-31. Rather than plead facts, Bell merely recites what the DCL prohibits. JA67-69 ¶¶ 93-100. The Court of Appeals previously affirmed the dismissal of Bell's DCL claim against FISC in *Bell I*, on the same grounds, noting

that a plaintiff "must plead factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged." 256 A.3d at 258 (quoting *Close It! Title Servs. V. Nadel*, 248 A.3d 132, 138 (D.C. 2021). Bell did not learn from the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the dismissal of her DCL claim. Bell's Complaint provides no specific factual allegations to support a DCL claim against the Law Firm, but once again makes legal conclusions unsupported by any factual allegations.

To survive a motion to dismiss a plaintiff must "set forth sufficient facts to establish the elements of a legally cognizable claim." *Bell I*, 256 A.3d at 258 (citing *Woods v. District of Columbia*, 63 A.3d 551, 552-53 (D.C. 2013). "Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice, and unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me accusations also are insufficient." *Sundberg v. TTR Realty, LLC*, 109 A.3d 1123, 1129 (D.C. 2015) (cleaned up); *Poola v. Howard Univ.*, 147 A.3d 267, 276 (D.C. 2016) ("A complaint does not 'suffice if it tenders naked assertion[s] devoid of further factual enhancement."").

Bell argues that her Complaint satisfies the District's pleadings requirement, citing allegations she asserts were overlooked by the trial court. Br. at 45-46. But Bell's brief only highlights the conclusory nature of her allegations and supports affirmance of the trial court's dismissal. Bell first argues the Law Firm violated § 28-3814(c), which prohibits debt collectors from collecting or attempting to collect any money alleged to be due and owing by means of any threat, coercion, or attempt to coerce in any way. Bell argues her allegation that the Law Firm filed a "deficiency barred lawsuit in small claims" is sufficient to state a claim for violation of this section. Br. at 45. Bell does not expand on how the Law Firm's filing of a collection action against Bell for money alleged due could be construed as a "threat" or "coercion" under the statute.

Next, Bell contends the Law Firm violated § 28-3814(f)(5), which prohibits debt collectors from using any "unfair, fraudulent, deceptive, or misleading representation, device, or practice to collect a consumer debt or to obtain information in conjunction with the collection of a consumer debt." Bell asserts that the Law Firm misrepresented that a deficiency was owed and misrepresented the "character/extent/amount of a claim through a sworn and false affidavit." Br. at 45. Again, Bell does not present any factual allegations to support these conclusory assertions.

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